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This Court should review de novo a District Court’s dismissal of a 

complaint for failure to state a claim under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). Selevan v. 

N.Y. Thruway Auth., 584 F.3d 82, 88 (2d Cir. 2009).  The Court must determine 

whether the facts alleged support a claim that is plausible on its face and allow 

the court to “draw the reasonable inference that the defendant[s] [are] liable for 

the misconduct alleged. Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 679 (2009). A 

complaint alleging securities fraud in a private action for damages is subject to 

heightened pleadings standards, as well as those of Rule 9(b). See Kalnit v. 

Eichler, 264 F.3d 131, 138 (2d Cir. 2001).  

Statement of the Issues  
 

I. Whether the determination that a transaction is domestic is sufficient 

for the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). 

II. Whether an employee who, at the insistence of a superior, inserts a 

false or misleading statement into investor materials, is subject to 

primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), even if that individual is 

not the maker of the statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b).   

Statement of the Case 

 The Petitioners filed a complaint against Cato. Cato filed a 12(b)(6) 

motion to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a claim. However, the 

United States District Court for the District of Fordham denied her motion. 

Cato appealed the judgment in the Fourteenth Circuit Court of Appeals and her 

motion to dismiss was granted. The Petitioners appealed to the Supreme Court 

of the United States, which granted certiorari on February 3, 2020.  
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Statement of the Facts  

Ava Cato, Respondent, is a bright young Italian attorney who recently 

graduated at the top of her class at Sapienza Università di Roma. (R., 2). She 

was hired by Gianni Marconi and Benny Factor to help familiarize them with 

the Italian law for their wine and spirits company, Alcollezione. (Id). Cato’s first 

success was establishing the company’s headquarters in Milan and structuring 

it as a Società per azioni, the Italian equivalent of a corporation. (Id). Cato was 

not familiar with the extensive regulations in place for beverage quantity 

control, but soon familiarized herself with them to ensure compliance. (Id).  

 Factor insisted that going public was the best option for the company. 

(Id). In preparation for the 2011 initial public offering (IPO), Alcollezione created 

an “Investor Relations” section on its website, where it posted financial 

statements, corporate disclosures, and other investor materials in both English 

and Italian. (R., 3). Alcollezione then listed the shares of stock on Borsa 

Italiana, the Italian stock exchange. (Id). Alcollezione expanded its markets 

across Europe and the United States. (Id). With the business well 

established, Marconi and Factor traveled to New York to visit family and 

friends. (Id). While in New York, they met with Doris Schutt, an investment 

banker. (Id). Schutt suggested Alcollezione form a local subsidiary in the U.S.; 

Marconi denied. (Id). Schutt then inquired if Alcollezione might consider 

sponsoring an American Depository Receipt (ADR) to access American capital 

markets. (Id). However, Marconi’s answer did not change. (Id).  

 When Marconi returned to Italy, he unexpectedly received a call from 

Schutt. (Id.) A group of her hedge fund friends, including Petitioner, expressed 
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interest in the growing company. (R., 4). She suggested her colleagues buy into 

the company. (Id). However, given portfolio restrictions on trading on foreign 

exchanges, doing so would be impossible. (Id). Schutt informed Marconi she 

was considering using her position at Hansen Bank and Trust, a New York 

depository institution, to set up an unsponsored ADR. (Id). Marconi explained 

that he typically left the more nuanced financial decisions to Factor. (Id). 

Weeks later, Hansen Bank and Trust filed a Form F-6 to register the 

unsponsored ADRs. (Id). The ADRs were traded over the counter and were 

purchased via phone by the various hedge fund managers in New York and 

Connecticut with the assistance of Hansen Bank and Trust employees. (Id).  

 Even though the stock price remained high, Marconi was concerned that 

market share opportunities were becoming more difficult. (Id). He met with 

Factor and Cato to discuss their options for the 2017 Annual Shareholders 

Meeting (Annual Meeting). (R., 5). Marconi suggested that the company should 

consider a new spiked mineral water. (Id). Factor and Cato agreed. (Id). 

However, the legal parameters around the beverage were not entirely clear yet. 

(Id). Cato then began a diligent research assessment of the current regulations 

regarding alcoholic sparkling beverages considering her biannual review was 

forthcoming to make sure the beverage complied with Italian regulations. (Id).  

In the weeks leading up to the Annual Meeting, the stock wavered on 

conflicting reports of macroeconomic headwinds and limited opportunities for 

growth, given tightening food and beverage regulations. (Id). Marconi 

anticipated that institutional investors would require assurances regarding the 

product’s regulatory compliance. (Id). Cato stated that compliance with 
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regulations “would be an uphill climb” and while possible in the long-term, it 

seemed unlikely in the short term. (Id). Marconi stated “these things always 

find a way of getting resolved.” (Id). He added, “It is better to ask for forgiveness 

than permission – and trust me, I can handle the PR stuff if there is blowback.” 

(Id). Cato was visibly skeptical about Marconi’s response, however, Marconi 

assured her that such activity was “perfectly common in business.” (Id). He 

pressured her and said, “this is happening with or without you.” (Id).  

 It was unclear whether the new drink, Frizzantissimo, would violate any 

Italian beverage regulations. (R., 6). However, Cato proceeded to draft the 

assurances. (Id). The condensed assurances were subsequently inserted into 

Marconi’s slide deck and footnoted in Factor’s pro-forma financial statements. 

(Id). At the Annual Meeting, Marconi presented the launch of Frizzantissimo. 

(Id). He passed along copies of Factor’s pro-forma financial statements. (Id). The 

slide deck and financial statements were posted to the “Investor Relations” 

section of Alcollezione’s webpage. (Id). After which, Schutt emailed Factor to 

congratulate him on the successful announcement. (Id).  

The stock and the ADRs continued to trend upward through the early 

2018 winter. (Id). However, on March 14, 2018, the Alcollezione management 

team received word that all production of Frizzantissimo would have to halt, 

effective immediately, due to noncompliance with quality control standards of 

production. (Id). In the ensuing hours, the stock and ADR prices dropped. (Id). 

After speaking with the various stakeholders, all three senior executives 

thought it best for the company if they stepped down from their roles. (Id).  

Summary of the Argument 
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 Ava Cato is a bright young Italian attorney who graduated at the top of 

her class at Sapienza Università di Roma. Cato was hired as General Counsel 

for Gianni Marconi and Benny Factor in launching their new wine and spirits 

business, Alcollezione. The United States Court of Appeals for the Fourteenth 

Circuit was correct in dismissing the Petitioner’s complaint. Therefore, that 

judgement should be upheld. Cato did not commit securities fraud in violation 

of Section 10(b) of the Securities Act of 1934, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and Rule 10b-

5 and the Petitioner failed to adequately allege a primary violation of § 

10(b).  The transaction is predominantly foreign, and Cato was neither a 

“maker” nor a “disseminator” of the fraudulent statements.  

Firstly, the determination that the transaction is domestic is necessary, 

but not sufficient, for the extraterritorial application of § 10(b) of the Exchange 

Act. The transaction is not domestic under the Morrison transactional test. The 

transaction was not listed on any U.S. exchange. Further, the transaction is 

not domestic because irrevocable liability was not incurred in the U.S. and 

there was no title transfer. There is no documented evidence of the transfer of 

the ADRs. Further, this conduct occurred without the consent of Marconi, 

Cato, or Factor. Thus, the application of § 10(b) is impermissible. Moreover, the 

transaction was predominantly foreign under Parkcentral. All of the conduct 

occurred in Italy. Thus, the transaction was predominantly foreign and the 

application of § 10(b) is impermissible; the claim should be dismissed.  

Secondly, while Cato, by the authority and control of her superior, 

drafted false assurances that were inserted into investor materials, she is not 

subjected to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c). Firstly, Cato is not a 
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maker of a statement because she lacked ultimate authority over the 

statement. Secondly, Lorenzo does not control a private action against Cato for 

two reasons: Lorenzo was an SEC enforcement action and does not apply to 

private actions; and notwithstanding Lorenzo, Cato was not a disseminator. 

While claims brought by the SEC include some forms of secondary liability, 

Congress excluded such actors from private actions. Cato did not violate Rule 

10b5-(a) or (c) because her assurances were not attributed to her at the time of 

public dissemination. In conclusion, Cato’s motion to dismiss should be 

granted and the decision of the Court of Appeals should be affirmed.  

Argument 

I. THE DETERMINATION THAT A TRANSACTION IS DOMESTIC IS 
NECESSARY BUT NOT SUFFICIENT FOR THE EXTRATERRITORIAL 

APPLICATION OF SECTION 10(b) 
 
Even if the Court finds the transaction to be domestic, this is necessary 

but not sufficient for the extraterritorial application of § 10(b), as the 

transaction is predominantly foreign under Parkcentral. Before the Supreme 

Court’s watershed decision, Morrison v. Nat’l Austl. Bank Ltc., there were two 

tests for determining whether a transaction was domestic: the conducts test 

and the effects test. SEC v. Ficeto, 839 F. Supp. 2d 1101, 1107 (C.D. Cal. 

2011). However, the Supreme Court rejected this line of cases because there 

was no textual basis for these tests. Id. Further, these tests were unpredictable 

and inconsistent. Morrison v. Nat'l Austl. Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 260 (2010). 

Therefore, the Court returned to America’s longstanding principle of law that 

“unless contrary intent appears, legislation is meant only to apply within the 

territorial jurisdiction of the United States.”  Id. at 255.  
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Congress ordinarily legislates with respect to domestic, not foreign 

matters. Id. Thus, unless there is an affirmative intention that Congress has 

expressed to give a statute extraterritorial effect, it must be presumed to apply 

only to domestic conduct. Id. Therefore, because the Exchange Act is silent as 

to the extraterritorial application of § 10(b), it was left to the Court to determine 

whether Congress would have wanted the statute to apply. Id. On its face, § 

10(b) contains nothing to suggest that it applies abroad. Id. at 262. Thus, the 

Court held that the Exchange Act does not apply extraterritorially. Id. at 265. 

The Exchange Act does not apply overseas because “the probability of 

incompatibility with the applicable laws of other countries is so obvious that if 

Congress intended such foreign application ‘it would have addressed the 

subject of conflicts with foreign laws and procedures.” Id. at 269. 

            Although Morrison provided a baseline standard for what is necessary 

to be “domestic,” it did not define exactly what is a “domestic transaction.” Id. 

Following the Morrison decision, Absolute Activist defined domestic. 561 U.S. at 

266; Absolute Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 67 (2d Cir. 

2012). Subsequent to Morrison and Absolute Activist, Parkcentral stated that 

the Morrison test in and of itself was not sufficient to establish whether § 10(b) 

applied extraterritorially. Parkcentral Glob. HUB Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. Holdings 

SE, 763 F.3d 198, 214 (2d Cir. 2014). Thus, when a transaction is considered 

domestic, this is necessary, but not sufficient for the extraterritorial application 

of § 10(b). Id. If the domestic transaction as under Morrison was both necessary 

and sufficient, “the mere fact that plaintiffs based their suit on a domestic 

transaction would make § 10(b) applicable to allegedly fraudulent conduct 
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anywhere in the world.” Id. Thus, a domestic transaction alone is not sufficient 

to state a claim under § 10(b). Id. at 215. Further, a statute making the rule 

applicable whenever the plaintiff’s suit is based on a domestic transaction of 

the foreignness of the facts would undermine Morrison’s presumption that § 

10(b) has no extraterritorial application. Id. A minor domestic element in a 

predominantly foreign transaction would make § 10(b) of the Exchange Act “a 

craven watchdog indeed if it retreated to its kennel whenever some domestic 

activity is involved in the case.” Id. at 216. A domestic transaction is not a 

definitive factor. Id. at 215.  

In the present case, the transaction is not domestic. The securities were 

not listed on any U.S. stock exchange, but was on the Italian stock exchange. 

Additionally, the Petitioners have not presented any evidence that the 

transaction was domestic, including documentation. Further, even if the Court 

were to find that the transaction was domestic, this is necessary but not 

sufficient to state a claim under § 10(b). The transaction is predominantly 

foreign in the present case. Therefore, the appellate decision should be affirmed 

and the claim must be dismissed under § 10(b) of the Exchange Act.  

A. The transaction is not domestic under Morrison, thus the 

application of § 10(b) is impermissible  
 

The transaction is not domestic under Morrison, thus, the claim should 

be dismissed because the application of § 10(b) of the Exchange Act is 

impermissible. The Exchange Act § 10(b) does not apply extraterritorially. 

Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266. “The focus of the Exchange Act is not upon the place 

where the deception originated, but upon the purchases and sales of securities 
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in the United States.” Id. at 267. Further, § 10(b) does not punish all deceptive 

conduct, but only “deceptive conduct in connection with the purchase or sale 

of any security registered on a national securities exchange or any security not 

so registered.” Id. To determine whether § 10(b) applies, Morrison adopted the 

transactional test: whether the transaction involves a security listed on a 

domestic exchange, or whether the purchase or sale is made in the U.S. Id. at 

269. “With regards to securities not registered on domestic exchanges, the 

exclusive focus [is] on domestic purchases and sales.” Id. at 268.  

A transaction is considered to be domestic if either (1) irrevocable liability 

is incurred, or (2) title passes within the United States. Id. Irrevocable liability 

suggests that the act of purchasing or selling securities is entering into a 

binding contract to purchase or sell the securities. Id. “It is sufficient for 

plaintiffs to allege facts leading to the plausible inference that the parties 

incurred irrevocable liability within the U.S.: that is, that the purchaser 

incurred irrevocable liability within the U.S. to take and pay for security, or 

that the seller incurred irrevocable liability within the U.S. to deliver a 

security.” Id. Additionally, courts look to the terms, timing, and place of the 

parties’ contracting and liabilities thereunder. Id. “Relevant facts with respect 

to the formation of contracts, the placement of purchase orders,… or the 

exchange of money should be considered.” Giunta v. Dingman, 893 F.3d 73, 79 

(2d Cir. 2018). No over the counter market is a “national security exchange.” 

Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 945 (9th Cir. 2018). 

“ADRs are negotiable certificates issued by a United States Depositary 

institution, typically banks, and they represent a beneficial interest in, but not 
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legal title of, a specified number of shares of a non-United States company.” 

Stoyas, 896 F.3d at 940. The depositary institution itself maintains custody 

over the foreign company’s shares. Id. “ADRs that are unsponsored means that 

the depositary institutions each filed Form F-6 without the company’s ‘formal 

participation’ and possibly without its acquiescence.” Id. at 941. ADRs are 

consistently referred to and treated as securities by parties, depositary 

institutions, the Securities and Exchange Commission, courts, and scholars Id. 

at 942 (internal citations omitted). Courts have applied § 10(b) where the ADR 

in question is sponsored. Reese v. Malone, 747 F.3d 557 (9th Cir. 2014); 

Freidus v. Barclays Bank PLC, 734 F.3d 132 (2d Cir. 2013). ADRs are 

considered to be a predominantly foreign transaction. In re Societe Generale 

Sec. Litig., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 107719 (S.D.N.Y. Sep. 29, 2010) 

For example, in Morrison, the court held that the transaction could not 

be considered domestic. Morrison, 561 U.S. at 273. Here, the plaintiffs sued 

defendant, an Australian Bank. Id. at 251. The shares were traded on an 

Australian stock exchange, but not on any exchange in the U.S. Id. The 

defendant bought a company headquartered in Florida, and the plaintiffs 

claimed that the defendants “touted” the success of the company’s business 

and public statements. Id. at 251-52. However, the Court held that § 10(b) did 

not apply because there was no indication that the Exchange Act applied 

extraterritorially. Id. at 265. Moreover, the Court held that because the 

securities were not regulated on a domestic exchange, the Exchange Act did 

not apply. Id. The Court stated it “kn[ew] of no one who thought the Act was 

intended to ‘regulat[e] foreign securities exchanges – or indeed believe that 



R02 

 15 

under established principles of international law Congress had the power to do 

so.’” Id. at 267. Further, the case did not involve securities listed on a domestic 

exchange, and all aspects of the purchases petitioners complained of still had 

live claims outside the U.S. Id. at 273. Thus, § 10(b) of the Exchange Act did 

not apply to the transaction, and the case was dismissed. Id.  

Additionally, in Absolute Activist, the court held that the complaint did 

not sufficiently state a claim for a domestic transaction. Absolute Activist, 677 

F.3d at 62. Here, the plaintiffs were nine Cayman Island hedge funds that 

invested in a variety of assets on behalf of many investors around the world, 

including some investors in the U.S. Id. at 63. The plaintiffs claimed that the 

defendants engaged in a fraudulent trading scheme, causing millions of dollars 

in loss. Id. The court held that the complaint did not sufficiently allege that 

irrevocable liability was incurred in the U.S. Id. at 70. The court reasoned that 

sole allegation that the transactions took place in the U.S. was conclusory. Id. 

There were no facts that stated the purchase was irrevocably bound, such as 

facts concerning the formation of the contracts, the placement of purchase 

orders, the passing of title, or the exchange of money. Id. Further, “the mere 

assertion that the transactions ‘took place in the U.S. [was] insufficient to 

adequately plead the existence of domestic transactions.” Id. The court held 

that because defendant carried out his fraudulent activities which caused the 

plaintiff to carry out his fraudulent activities in the U.S., plaintiff did not 

sufficiently allege that the transaction took place in the U.S. Id. Thus, the court 

held under § 10(b) of the Exchange Act, the plaintiff did not adequately allege 

the existence of a domestic transaction. Id.  
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Under the transactional test adopted in Morrison, the first prong of the 

test – the purchase or sale of securities on American stock exchanges – does 

not apply because the securities were not on the American stock exchange. 

Similar to Morrison, the securities in the present case were traded on the 

Italian stock exchange, not on any exchange in the U.S. (R., 3) The 

presumption is against extraterritoriality, and this presumption should apply 

in the present case. Thus, because the present case does not involve securities 

on a domestic exchange, and all of the claims that remain took place outside of 

the U.S., § 10(b) of the Exchange Act does not apply.  

However, because the transaction did not occur on a domestic exchange, 

the focus is on the second prong of the Morrison transactional test. This prong 

– the domestic purchases and sales – is not met. Similar to Absolute Activist, 

irrevocability was not incurred in the U.S. The fact that the transaction took 

place in the U.S. is not enough to demonstrate that the transaction was 

domestic. Further, like in Absolute Activist, the Petitioners do not present any 

evidence that there was a formation of a contract, there was a placement of 

purchase orders, or there was an exchange of money. There is no evidence of 

money wiring in the U.S. to show that a transaction occurred. Moreover, these 

transactions occurred over the phone, thus, there is no documentation to prove 

title transfer in the U.S. (R., 4).  

Because the ADRs in this case were unsponsored, Alcollezione had 

nothing to do with this transaction. (Id). Marconi, Factor, and Cato remained in 

Italy when this transaction happened, thus making it less domestic. The 

transaction of ADRs was a unilateral decision made by the Petitioner, and one 
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that Alcollezione had nothing to do with. The Petitioner made this transaction 

without the consent of Alcollezione. Further, ADRs are a predominantly foreign 

transaction, and applying § 10(b) to an unsponsored ADR would undercut 

Morrison’s strong presumption against extraterritoriality. Thus, the Exchange 

Act cannot apply to Alcollezione given they were not in any way involved in the 

transaction. Because the transaction was not domestic under Morrison’s 

transactional test, and irrevocable liability was not incurred in the U.S., § 10(b) 

is impermissible, and the appellate court decision should be affirmed.  

B. Even if the Court were to find that the transaction is 
domestic under Morrison, this is not sufficient, and the 

transaction is predominantly foreign under Parkcentral, 
thus the application of § 10(b) is impermissible 

 
Even if the Court were to find that the transaction is domestic under 

Morrison’s transactional test, this is not sufficient under Parkcentral; thus, the 

claim should be dismissed because application of § 10(b) of the Exchange Act is 

impermissible. A domestic transaction under Morrison is necessary, but not 

sufficient to make § 10(b) applicable. Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215. “In certain 

cases, the facts may be so predominantly foreign as to render the application of 

§ 10(b) impermissibly extraterritorial.” Id. at 216.  Courts must pay carefully 

attention to the facts of each case that have proved determinative in prior 

cases, so as eventually to develop a reasonable and consistent government 

body of law on this elusive question. Id. at 217.   

For example, in Parkcentral the court held that relevant actions in the 

transaction were predominantly foreign and failed to invoke § 10(b). Id. at 202. 

Here, appellee was a German automobile manufacturer, Porsche. Id. at 201. 
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The appellant, more than thirty international hedge funds, employed security 

swap-based agreements pegged to the price of Volkswagen AG (“VW”) shares. 

Id. The amount of gain and loss depended on the prices of the VW stock 

recorded on foreign exchanges. Id. The appellants alleged that appellees made 

various manipulative actions to deny and conceal the appellants’ intention to 

take over VW in making their swap agreements. Id. These statements were 

made in Germany, but were also accessible in the United States. Id. When 

Porsche made its true intentions public, the price of VW shares rose 

dramatically, causing appellants to largely suffer. Id. The court held that the 

appellants’ swaps were conducted upon foreign exchanges and were not 

“domestic transactions.” Id. at 213. The court held that applying § 10(b) to the 

appellees would implicate the incompatibility of U.S. and foreign laws. Id. at 

216. The complaints concerned statements primarily made in Germany, with 

respect to stock in a German company, traded only on exchanges in Europe. 

Id. If this suit were to proceed, it would “hale” European participants in the 

market for German stocks into U.S. courts and subject them to U.S. securities 

laws. Id. Further, the conduct was already subject to investigation by the 

German authorities and adjudication in German courts. Id. Additionally, the 

court held that although the false statements may have been intended to 

deceive investors worldwide, they found the actions in this case were so 

predominantly foreign that the complaints failed to invoke § 10(b). Id. 

Similar to Parkcentral, the transaction in the present case was 

predominantly foreign. Like the complaints in Parkcentral, the complaints 

about the misrepresentation in the present case were made in Italy. (R., 5). 
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Cato stated her concern with the compliance of the regulations in Italy, and 

Marconi made the fraudulent misrepresentation in Italy. Id. Moreover, at the 

direction of Marconi, Cato drafted the assurances that the product was to be 

approved and ready for the market in 2018 in Italy.  Id. In addition to the 

making and drafting of the statements, these statements were presented in 

Italy at the Annual Meeting. (R., 6). The alleged fraudulent conduct occurred 

nowhere in the U.S. Similar to Parkcentral, all of the statements in the present 

case happened abroad, making the transaction predominantly foreign. The 

Petitioner will likely argue that Marconi was in New York for five days, so the 

transaction cannot be predominantly foreign. However, while Marconi was in 

New York, he repeatedly turned down forming a local subsidiary in the United 

States and sponsoring an ADR to access the American capital market. (R., 3). 

Not only did business not occur in New York, but there was no business with 

respect to the securities in New York. Therefore, the transaction is not domestic 

and is predominantly foreign, which does not invoke the application of § 10(b).  

Although the statements were posted in both Italian and English to the 

Investor Relations section of Alcollezione’s webpage, the transaction is still 

predominantly foreign. (R., 3). These statements on the website are similar to 

the statements made in Parkcentral that could have been intended to deceive 

people worldwide, which the court held was not enough to make the 

transaction domestic. Moreover, English is a business language that is used all 

over the world, and there is nothing in the record that could be interpreted as 

an intent to target the U.S. for business that would be deemed a domestic 

transaction. Further, this is Morrison’s exact fear of the “craven watchdog.” 
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Foreign countries would be fearful to conduct any business with or in the U.S. 

if they would incur liability even at the slightest correspondence such as an 

email, or as here, a website, that is in both Italian and English.  

The facts determinative facts in Parkcentral are the same facts in the 

present case - the securities are listed on the Italian stock exchange, the 

alleged fraudulent statements were made primarily in Italy, there is an 

incompatibility with U.S. and foreign laws, and applying U.S. law would “hale” 

foreign participants into the U.S. courts and subject them to U.S. laws. Thus, 

Parkcentral honors Morrison’s insistence of a strong presumption against 

extraterritoriality and prevents the inapplicability of U.S. laws and foreign laws. 

Further, although Parkcentral is a first precedent case, courts should proceed 

with caution and closely examine the facts of each individual case. There may 

be future facts that lend to an application of § 10(b), but that does not concern 

the present case, and is not for this Court, but future courts to decide.  

The primary motivation for taking into account all of the circumstances 

when determining if a transaction is predominantly foreign is because of the 

likelihood that U.S. law is not similar to foreign law. Here, fraudulent 

statements were made in Italy, and thus Cato should be subject to Italian law. 

The Italian law on fraudulent statements is certainly different from the law in 

the U.S. regarding fraudulent statements. Additionally, although there is not 

currently an investigation in Italy, it is likely that Cato would be subject to 

adjudication in Italy, so subjecting her to adjudication also in the U.S. would 

expose her to duplicitous adjudication. (R., 7). And, in fact, the alleged 

fraudulent statements did not even happen in the U.S. Thus, it would be 
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illogical to subject Cato to the U.S. judicial system when Italy has a far more 

direct connection to the conduct at issue. Additionally, by only applying 

Morrison’s transactional test, there is going to be a problem with the 

incompatibility of the U.S. and foreign laws because most transactions at some 

point involve the U.S. Moreover, this would open the floodgates to litigation if a 

transaction involving any sort of domestic transaction were subject to § 10(b). 

Therefore, even if the Court were to find the transaction is domestic, because 

the transaction is predominantly foreign, the application of § 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act is impermissible and the case should be dismissed.  

II. AN EMPLOYEE WHO, AT THE INSISTENCE OF A SUPERIOR, INSERTS 
A FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENT INTO INVESTOR MATERIALS, 

IS NOT SUBJECT TO PRIMARY LIABILITY AGAINST A PRIVATE 
PARTY UNDER RULE 10b-5(a) OR (c), WHEN THAT INDIVIDUAL IS 
NOT THE MAKER OF THE STATEMENT UNDER RULE 10b-5(b).   

 
 Because Cato did not make a misstatement under Janus, she was at 

most a secondary actor under Central Bank, and she did not disseminate a 

statement that was attributed to her under Lorenzo, Cato is not subjected to 

primary liability against a private party under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c). The 

appellate court’s decision to grant Cato’s motion to dismiss should therefore be 

affirmed. Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act prohibits any person 

from using or employing “any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance 

in contravention” of SEC rules. 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b). Rule 10b-5 specifies the type 

of liable conduct under § 10(b), prohibiting: (a) the employment of any device, 

scheme, or artifice to defraud; (b) the making of any untrue statement of a 

material fact; or (c) engaging in any act, practice, or course of business which 

operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. To state 
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a claim under 10b-5, the plaintiff must allege that defendant made a false 

statement or omitted a material fact, with scienter, and that the plaintiff’s 

reliance on defendant’s action caused plaintiff injury. Lentell v Merrill Lynch & 

Co., 396 F.3d 161, 172 (2d Cir. 2005) (emphasis added).    

Courts have timelessly distinguished between primary and secondary 

violators. Cent. Bank, N.A. v. First Interstate Bank, N.A., 511 U.S. 164 (1994). 

Private plaintiffs may only bring suit against primary violators. Id. at 191. This 

bright line distinction has been clearly defined by the Supreme Court through 

Janus, Central Bank, and Lorenzo. Janus Capital Grp., Inc. v. First Derivative 

Traders, 564 U.S. 135 (2011); Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. 164; Lorenzo v. SEC, 139 S. 

Ct. 1094 (2019). Given the holdings of these cases, Petitioner has failed to 

assert a claim against Cato. 

Firstly, Cato did not make a statement under Janus. Cato lacked 

ultimate authority over the statement, including its content, and whether and 

how to communicate it. Thus, Petitioner cannot satisfy the initial pleading 

requirements under Fed. R. Civ. P. Rule 9(b) and SEC Rule 10b-5.  

Secondly, Lorenzo does not apply liability for a private action against 

Cato for two reasons: Lorezno only applies to enforcements by the SEC, not 

private parties claims against secondary actors; and Cato was not a 

disseminator. While the SEC can impose some forms of secondary liability, 

private parties do not adhere to the same broadened scope of liability. Congress 

intentionally excluded private party allegations against secondary actors, 

including claims for aiding and abetting. This insinuates that Lorenzo should 
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only apply to SEC cases. Considering Cato’s conduct, she can at most be 

secondarily liable.  

Irrespective of the Court’s decision to apply Lorenzo, Cato is nevertheless 

not liable under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c) because she is not a disseminator. The 

assurances were not attributed to Cato at the time of dissemination. Lorenzo 

contained a distinguishable situation, and the facts of that case do not 

similarly correlate with Cato’s circumstance. By failing to establish that he 

relied on the assurances attributed to Cato when they were disseminated, the 

Petitioner has failed to state a claim against Cato. Since Cato is not a maker 

under Janus, and Lorenzo is inapplicable to a private action because Cato was 

at most secondarily liable and she was not disseminator, the Petitioner has 

failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. The appellate court’s 

decision to grant Cato’s motion to dismiss should be affirmed. 

A. Because Cato is not a “maker,” Petitioner did not maintain the scope 
of an implied private right of action and failed to state a claim  

 
Cato did not violate § 10(b) under Janus because she did not make a 

statement. Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the SEC’s 

Rule 10b-5 prohibits directly or indirectly making any material misstatement in 

connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. 

See also Halliburton Co., 573 U.S. at 267. To satisfy Rule 9(b)’s particularity 

requirement for allegations of fraud, the plaintiff must set forth: precisely what 

documents or oral representations were made; the time and place of each such 

statement; and the person responsible for making the same.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 

9(b). See Ziemba v. Cascade Int’l, Inc., 256 F.3d 1194, 1202 (11th Cir. 2001). 
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Thus, to be primarily liable, a defendant must have made the material 

misstatement at issue. Janus, 564 U.S. at 135. 

The maker of a statement is the one who has ultimate authority over the 

statement, including its content and whether and how to communicate it. 

Janus, 564 U.S. at 142. While one can play a role in the preparation of the 

content that is communicated, liability attaches to the control person. See Id. 

(holding one who was significantly involved in the preparation, subjected to the 

control of another, and assisted in crafting the statement is not a maker).   

To be liable as a control person, the defendant must possess the ability 

to direct the actions of the controlled person. In re Global Crossing, Ltd. Sec. 

Litig., No. 02 Civ. 910, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16228, 2005 WL 1881514, *3 

(S.D.N.Y. Aug. 5, 2005). Without control, a person who merely suggests what to 

say, or simply plays a role in preparing, does not make a statement. Lorenzo, 

139 S. Ct. at 1098 (quoting Janus, 564 U.S. at 142, 143) (stating that although 

a speech writer drafts a speech, the content is entirely in control of the person 

who delivers it). Maker does not encompass individuals who provide false 

information that another puts into a statement. Janus, 564 U.S. at 148. 

Attribution within a statement is strong evidence that a statement was made 

by and only by party to whom it is attributed. Janus, 564 U.S. at 2302.  

Only the person who communicates the misrepresentation is liable in 

private actions under § 10(b). Janus, 564 U.S. at 135. In Goldberg, plaintiff’s 

allegation that a third party vouched for the defendants was considered 

insufficiently vague to satisfy Rule 9(b). Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b), Goldberg v. Gray, 

No. 5:15-CV-0538 (DNH/TWD), 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 100802 (N.D.N.Y. Aug. 
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2, 2016). Plaintiff failed to specify when and to whom such statements were 

made. Id. Additionally, the allegation that the defendants participated in a 

scheme to defraud did not present a particularized fact supporting a strong 

inference. Id. Since it was insufficient to establish a § 10(b) claim, defendants’ 

motion to dismiss was granted. Id.   

While neither preceding court has disputed that Cato did not make the 

statement, it is essential that this Court recognizes the necessity of this 

characterization in terms of stating a proper claim. If Cato is not a maker, the 

analysis of this claim halts because she is not liable as a primary violator and 

the Petitioner failed to satisfy the pleading requirements. The Petitioner needed 

to first satisfy the particularity requirement set forth by Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). 

This rule unambiguously requires the Petitioner to identify both the statements 

that were made, and the person responsible for making such statements. Thus, 

the rule narrows the scope of allegations brought by a private party to only 

those who make a statement. Therefore, for Petitioner to assert any claim 

against Cato, he must establish that she made the statement. That he cannot.   

Cato was not the maker of the statement because she lacked ultimate 

authority over the statement, including its content and whether and how to 

communicate it. Although Cato played a small role in the preparation, liability 

nevertheless does not attach to her because she did not have control.   

Cato cannot be considered a control person because she did not possess 

the ability to direct the actions of either Marconi or Factor. While Cato was 

skeptical, and suggested that Marconi not provide the assurance, he 

maintained primary control over Cato. Id. He told her precisely what needed to 
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be said, on behalf of his company, and with his approval. Id. He insisted it 

would be resolved, stating it would be better to ask for forgiveness than 

permission. Id. His assurance that he would handle the blowback is 

furthermore indicative that he was in control. Id. Marconi’s authority is made 

prominent by the fact that he left Cato with no other options but to provide the 

assurances saying, “this is happening with or without you.” Id. Because Cato’s 

action was a derivative of Marconi’s control, she is not the maker. Cato merely 

drafted an assurance, per Marconi’s demands, that he delivered.   

The misstatement was not communicated by Cato. The assurances were 

put into Marconi’s slide deck and footnoted in Factor’s financial statements. 

(R., 6). Marconi delivered the presentation, and Factor communicated with the 

investors. Id. These items were posted to Alcollezione’s webpage without Cato’s 

control. Id. Cato did not personally transmit the assurances. Id. Therefore, the 

assurances were not associated with Cato, but were instead attributed to 

Marconi and Factor. Failing to classify Cato as a maker, Petitioner cannot 

assert a claim under both the federal pleading standard and the Securities 

Exchange Act. The appellate court’s decision should thus be affirmed.   

B. Lorezno is not controlling for private actions and does not subject 

Cato to primary liability as a disseminator 
 

Lorenzo does not control a private action against Cato for two reasons: 

Lorenzo was a SEC enforcement case and does not apply to private actions; and 

notwithstanding Lorenzo, Cato is not subjected to primary liability because she 

was not a disseminator. In 2013, the SEC instituted proceedings against 

Francis Lorenzo for violating the Securities Exchange Act. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 
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at 1099. One of Lorenzo’s clients wanted to sell investors $15 million worth of 

debentures, despite the fact that their intellectual property was worthless. Id. 

Lorenzo sent two emails to prospective investors describing the debenture 

offering. Id. The emails were sent at the direction of his boss, who supplied the 

content and approved the messages. Id. Lorenzo signed each email with his 

name, identifying himself as the “Vice President - Investment Banking,” and 

invited recipients to “call him with any questions.” Id.  

 In the 2019 decision of Lorenzo, the Supreme Court held that those who 

disseminate false statements with intent to defraud are primarily liable under 

Rules 10b-5(a) and (c), even if they are secondarily liable under Rule 10b-5(b). 

Id. at 1104. Its decision was based on the fact that Lorenzo sent false 

statements directly to investors, invited them to follow up, and did so in his 

professional capacity. Id. at 1101. While the Court assumed Janus to remain 

relevant, it clarified its application to preclude liability when an individual 

neither makes, nor disseminates false information. Id. at 1103.  

Given that Cato is not the maker of the misstatement, she is not subject 

to primary liability under two rationales: (i) Lorenzo is not controlling because 

this is a private action with distinguishable facts, and (ii) even applying 

Lorenzo, Cato is not subjected to primary liability because she is not a 

disseminator. 139 S. Ct. 1094. The Court’s decision should be bound by Janus 

and Central Bank to hold that one who is not the maker of false assurances is 

not subject to primary liability against a private party under Rule 10b-5(a) or 

(c). Thus, Petitioner has failed to assert a claim, Cato’s motion to dismiss 

should be granted, and the decision of the appellate court should be affirmed.   
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i.   Lorenzo was an SEC enforcement action and should be cabined to 
its unique facts 

 
Lorenzo is not controlling because private parties can only bring suit 

against primary actors, and Cato is at most secondarily liable; therefore, 

Petitioner has failed to allege a claim. A defendant can only be liable under § 

10(b) for manners as a primary violator. Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 164, 180, 191. 

The court has repeatedly drawn a distinction between primary and secondary 

liability. Id. Primary liability is imposed when a defendant actually makes a 

false or misleading statement; anything short of such conduct is merely aiding 

and abetting. Shapiro v. Cantor, 123 F.3d 717, 720 (2d Cir. 1997), Cent. Bank, 

511 U.S. at 720. An agent who understands that his employer’s statement is a 

lie, aids and abets the fraud, and is not a primary violator. Thomas H. Lee 

Equity Fund V, L.P. v. Mayer Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP, 612 F. Supp. 2d 267, 

277 (S.D.N.Y. 2009). Aiding and abetting is a method by which courts create 

secondary liability in persons other than the violator of the statute, who 

provide a degree of aid or substantial assistance. Pinter v. Dahl, 486 U.S. 648, 

108 S. Ct. 2063 (1988). Allegations of ‘assisting,’ ‘participating in,’ and similar 

synonyms all fall within the prohibitive bar of aiding and abetting. Id.   

“A private plaintiff may not maintain an aiding and abetting suit under § 

10(b).” Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 191. Congress enacted the Private Securities 

Litigation Reform Act (PSLRA) to further clarify aiding and abetting liability 

exclusively to claims by the SEC. See 15 U.S.C. § 78u-4 et seq. (1995). Thus, 

the fact that Congress chose to impose some forms of secondary liability for the 

SEC, but not for private actions, indicates a deliberate congressional choice 
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with which the courts should not interfere. Cent. Bank, 511 U.S. at 184. If 

Congress intended to impose such liability, we presume it would have used the 

words “aid and abet” in the statutory text; it did not. Pinter, 486 U.S. at 650. 

Lorenzo does not control the case at hand; Lorenzo was an SEC 

enforcement case and should be applied strictly to the circumstances of that 

case. Firstly, by enacting the PSLRA, Congress broadened the scope of liability 

solely for the SEC. On the other hand, claims by private parties are restricted 

to the narrow requirements of Rule 9(b). Because there are different pleading 

standards for both parties, it evidences a clear distinction between the scope of 

liabilities. Therefore, because the SEC follows a broader standard, the holding 

of Lorenzo cannot apply to Cato, who falls under a more narrow liability.  

Secondly, prior cases expanded the scope for SEC enforcement, including 

those against aiders and abettors. On the contrary, Congress has maintained 

an extremely narrow scope of liability to claims brought by private actors, 

systematically refusing to include anything other than primary liability. If 

Congress or the judicial system wanted to expand the scope of private actions 

to include non-makers of statements, there would be evidence of such intent; 

however, the dog did not bark. Shapiro defines this boundary by stating, 

“anything short of [making a false statement] is merely aiding and abetting.” 

The use of the word “anything” by the court is a catch all to conclude that if the 

defendant is not a maker, any other conduct is impermissible under § 10(b). If 

persons without control of the statement could be considered primary violators, 

then aiding and abetting would be nonexistent. This intentional and repeated 

dismissal of secondary liability claims by private parties asserts that unless 
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Cato is primarily liable as a maker, Petitioner has failed to state a claim against 

her. Therefore, claims brought by private parties should be constrained by the 

boundaries set forth in Janus and Central Bank, not Lorenzo.  

Finally, Central Bank held that private parties cannot bring a claim for 

aiding and abetting. Because Cato was short of making the statement, she at 

most aided and abetted. Despite providing a degree of aid to Marconi by 

assisting in creating assurances that she understood to be a lie, she is at most 

secondarily liable. If aiding and abetting creates secondary liability in persons 

other than the violator of the statute, then Cato did not violate the statute.  

Given that Cato’s actions most similarly correspond with allegations of 

aiding and abetting, she can at most be a secondary actor. Congress excluded 

private parties from alleging claims against aiders and abettors. Thus, the 

Court should not search for a loophole to try an individual case that definitively 

falls outside the set parameters of liability. Imposing primary liability on Cato’s 

conduct would erase the clear distinction between primary and secondary 

liability. If this Court concludes that Cato’s circumstance applies to a private 

action under § 10(b), the Court is opening the floodgates for potential 

secondary liability or aiding and abetting claims that they have tirelessly 

eliminated. For the Court to rule contrary to congressional intent, the decision 

would be an embarrassment to their authority, creating a conflict in the 

separation of powers. This slippery slope can be avoided by distinguishing the 

case at hand from the SEC’s interpretation in Lorenzo. For these reasons, 

Lorenzo should be constrained to the facts of its case, it should not be applied 

here, and the appellate court’s decision to grant Cato’s motion was proper.  
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ii. Cato is not a primary actor because she did not disseminate 
 

Even applying Lorenzo, Cato is not subject to primary liability because 

the assurances were not attributed to her at the time of dissemination. Under 

Lorenzo, those who do not “make” statements, but who disseminate false 

statements with the intent to defraud, can be found to have violated Rule 10b-

5(a) and (c), even if they are secondarily liable under (b). Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 

1104, 1099. Disseminate means “to spread abroad” or “to disperse 

throughout.” DISSEMINATE, The Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary, 

https://www.merriam-webster/com/dictionary/disseminator (last visited Feb. 

28, 2020).   

Secondary actors are primary violators only for misstatements attributed 

to them when publicly disseminated. Winkler v. NRD Mining, Ltd., 198 F.R.D. 

355, 366 (E.D.N.Y. 2000). Attribution is necessary to satisfy reliance. Id. 

Reliance only on representations made by others cannot form the basis of 

liability. Wright v. Ernst & Young, LLP, 152 F.3d 169 (2d Cir. 1998). The SEC, 

unlike private parties, need not show reliance. Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1104. 

To state a claim, a plaintiff must rely on a secondary actor’s own 

deceptive statements, not statements conveyed to the public through another 

source, unattributed to the defendant. Pac. Invest. Mgmt. Co. v. Mayer Brown 

LLP, 603 F.3d 144, 148 (2d Cir. 2010). See Id. (holding that although the 

secondary actor’s misstatement is communicated through a company’s 

financial statements, it is insufficient to show reliance). Absent attribution, 

plaintiff cannot show reliance on defendant’s false statements, and 

https://www.merriam-webster/com/dictionary/disseminator
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participation in the creation of those statements amounts, at most, to aiding 

and abetting. Pac. Invest. Mgmt. Co., 603 F.3d at 144.  

Irrespective of the court’s interpretation, Lorenzo does not hold Cato 

liable when she is not the maker nor disseminator. The key distinction between 

Lorenzo’s conduct and that of Cato, is that Cato did not communicate with 

investors, identify herself and position, and invite investors to contact her. The 

assurance disclosure was inserted into Marconi’s slide deck and footnoted in 

Factor’s pro-forma financial statements. (R., 6). Copies were passed along in a 

meeting Cato was not present for. Id. Cato did not personally participate in the 

dispersion of the assurances to the investors or the public. Since Cato did not 

personally communicate the misstatement, she is not a disseminator.   

The assurance in the slide deck was not attributed to Cato; it was both 

made by and attributed to Marconi. Id. He presented the slide deck to the 

investors and associated the information contained within to himself. Id. There 

is no evidence in the record that any investor either attributed Marconi’s slide 

deck with Cato, or relied upon her. Absent this direct correlation, the Petitioner 

fails to show that he relied on a statement in the slide deck attributed to Cato.   

Additionally, the financial statement was not attributed to Cato; it was 

attributed to Factor. Although the ultimate result of Cato’s disclosure was 

communicated to the public through the company’s financial statements, 

similar to Pac, this is insufficient to show reliance. Factor was in charge of 

“Investor Relations” and was therefore associated with its contents. (R., 4). This 

is further evidenced by the fact that Schutt congratulated Factor on the 

“successful announcement.” (R., 6). The omission of contact, identification, or 
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general connection to Cato is indicative of a lack of attribution. Cato’s entirely 

submissive, secondary role shielded her from both attribution and reliance, 

preventing her from being a disseminator.   

While the overall evaluation of this case should be constrained to an 

analysis of Janus and Central Bank, applying Lorenzo would nevertheless 

produce the same conclusion - the Petitioner has failed to state a claim. On 

account of Cato not making a statement, the statement must have been 

attributed to her at the time of dissemination to be liable. Because Petitioner 

cannot show either attribution or reliance on the assurances, Cato’s 

participation in the creation of those statements amounts, at most, to the 

barred allegation of aiding and abetting securities fraud. In conclusion, the 

Petitioner has failed to assert a claim and the appellate court’s decision to 

grant Cato’s motion to dismiss should be affirmed.  

Conclusion 
 
For the foregoing reasons, the appellate court decision should be 

affirmed, and the claim should be dismissed because § 10(b) is impermissible. 

Dated: March 2, 2020  
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